# RECEIVED

94747.3

Court of Appeals No. 73847-0-1

AUG - 4 2017
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON VICTOR TERENCE WASHINGTON, Plaintiff-Appellant, v. GROUP HEALTH COOPERATIVE, Defendant-Respondent. PETITION FOR REVIEW

Victor T. Washington 219 NW 196<sup>th</sup> place Shoreline WA. 98177

Email: vterencew@yahoo.com

###

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Victor Terence Washington, Appellant in the Court of Appeals Div. 1 and plaintiff in King County Superior court proceeding.

## **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Issues for Review concern the Washington State Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) RCW 49.60 disability discrimination, Failure to Accommodate Disability and Flagrant Prejudicial Misconduct of Court Appeals Division 1, 30 May 2017 decision against Appellant; Victor Terence Washington v. Group Health Co-op (GHC), No. 73847-0-1. The Court of Appeals denied timely motion to reconsider on 5 July 2017.

Issue on Appeal was Abuse of Discretion under CR 59 motion for new trial (1) Evidence did not match verdict. (2) Flagrant Prejudicial Misconduct.

In April 2017 Mr. Washington motioned via RAP 3.4 for Transfer of Interest.

Washington State Insurance Commissioner in February 2017 Issued Final Order that Group Health Co-op transferred interest to Kaiser, GHC no longer exist per Order. Defense unexpectedly filed a motion and declaration that GHC interest was not transferred. This Petition for Review denotes the employer as GHC, however the Commissioners' Order says Kaiser. Court of Appeals denied RAP 3.4.

## C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE 1: Did Defense criminalize Mr. Washington in a Disability Discrimination case under (WLAD), to inflame, prejudice the Jury with misconduct so flagrant and ill-intentioned no instruction would have cured the prejudice? When Defense at closing referred to Appellant's (Mr. Washington) Military Service being fraudulent or "Fishy", that his uneventful Bankruptcy, "was one of the darker deceptions in this case". And extensive character vouching, numerous opinions that Mr. Washington was dishonest and that Mr. Washington who is African American is a Big Mac Daddy (successful pimp).

- 1. Did the misconduct materially affect Mr. Washington's substantial rights under CR 59(a), Alcoa v Aetna Gas, and deprived Mr. Washington of a fair trial? Alcoa v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 998 P.2d 856 (Wash. 2000)
- 2. Under this Supreme Court's Palmer v. Jensen, 132 Wash.2d 193, 198, 937 P.2d 597 (1997) did the Court of Appeals "neglect to analyze {CR 59(a)}....failed to undertake an independent review" as required in Palmer? Palmer v. Jensen, 132 Wash.2d 193, 198, 937 P.2d 597 (1997). The Court of Appeals neglected to analyze and discuss this key issue that Appellant briefed in great detail, including a motion for new evidence. And Court of Appeals did not decide this case as per RAP 12.1(a) "issues set forth in the briefs"

ISSUE 2: When the Court of Appeals found Mr. Washington explained to Mr. Sims (GHC Supervisor) "that he {Mr. Washington} had heart issues..... heart related medical appointments.....{and} Washington e-mailed... "notifying them of a medical condition and appointment.". Did the Court of Appeals err when it determined these statements are NOT "Notice of a Disability" under Goodman v. Boeing, Martini v. Boeing and Sommer v. DSHS; that states "notice {disability} then triggers the employer's burden to take "positive steps" to accommodate the employee's......to determine the nature and extent of the disability "? Here the Court of Appeals determined substantial evidence Mr. Washington was disabled. To establish liability for failure to accommodate disability, the element remaining was "Notice of Disability". The Court of Appeals believed that the employer (GHC) being notified of "heart Issues by Mr. Washington and his email "notifying them of a medical condition" are not "Notice of Disability" as matter of law but "a question of fact for the Jury" Appeals opinion Pg. 16

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err that "Notice of Heart Issues" is not Notice of Disability.
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals Div. 1 err when it did not apply Martini v. Boeing (Div1) that has an identical fact pattern for "Notice of Disability" as this case.

- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err when they used Jury instructions instruction for their analysis and not the law as required under CR 59a7
- ISSUE 3: Under this Supreme Court's Re Marriage Rideout the court found, "written documentation can often be determined as a matter of Law". Re Marriage Rideout, 110 Wash. Regarding this failure to accommodate a disability case. Is an uncontested email where its' subject states, "Medical Condition Notification", a question of law to determine if "Medical Condition Notification" constitutes "Notice of Disability" under RCW 49.60, Goodman v. Boeing, Martini v. Boeing, Sommer v. DSHS?
- 1. And does this Supreme Court's Port of Seattle v. PCHB, 90 P.3d 659 (Wash. 2004) establish the standard of "[t]he process of applying the law to the facts ... is a question of law and is subject to de novo review.
- 2. Thus, did the Court of Appeals err when they found the email "Medical Condition Notification" was a Jury question to determine if it was "Notice of Disability". Goodman, 127 Wash.2d at 408, 899 P.2d 126, Martini at 457, 945 P.2d 248, Sommer v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.104 Wash.App.160, 170, 15 P.3d 664 (2001)
- 3. Did Court of Appeals Div 1 err when it did not apply Sommer v. DSHS (Div 1) that says "Simple Notice of a Disability" meets employee's burden however in this case Court of Appeals Div 1. Does consider Notice of Heart issues to be notice of disability.
- ISSUE 4: After the verdict in this case, this Supreme Court reformulated the law of Wrongful Discharge in Violation of Public Policy under this Court's Rose v. Anderson Hay and Becker v. Cmty. Health Sys. 1) Does this Court's Brundridge v. Fluor Federal Services (Wash. 2008) allow an issue (Wrongful discharge in violation public policy) to be brought up for the first time, if the issue is based on new law established during the appeal. Brundridge v. Fluor Federal Services, Inc., 191 P.3d 879 (Wash. 2008). 2) And does RCW 49.60.020 and this Supreme Court's Allison

v. Housing Authority (Wash. 1991) establish statutory impetus for the WLAD to "be construed liberally for the accomplishment of the purposes thereof." ...a policy `of the highest priority'.

In *Rose and Becker* this Supreme Court abandoned the longstanding analysis for determining the adequacy of this tort. Before this change in law, Mr. Washington could not bring this issue in good faith. As a result of the reformulation, Mr. Washington in his Appeals brief argued Wrongful Discharge in Violation of Public policy. Appellant's opening brief 29-34. This Courts new standard under *Rose*, *Becker* determined that *Wilmot* should be applied in Wrongful termination cases to determine liability under causation and proximity time of protected activity and employment termination. *Wilmot v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chem Corp.*, 118 Wn.2d at 68-69. The Court of Appeals refused to consider the reformulated Wrongful Termination, they state "record shows that he{Mr.Washington} makes this argument for the first time on appeal"

ISSUE 5: Order Limine was in place by Appellant. The order Limine under Outley states, "that seeking to introduce that a party as litigious serves no other purpose to inflame the jury....[t]he charge of litigiousness is a serious one, likely to result in undue prejudice against the party charged," Outley, 837 F.2d at 592. 1) Is the Court of Appeals in err when they believe an Order of Limine is NOT a rolling objection? 2) And their opinion disregards Appellants brief regarding the Order of Limine and the prejudicial effect of GHC ignoring it? 3) And When defense violated the Order Limine under Outley is this Prejudiced under Outley and thus grounds for New Trial?

ISSUE 6: This Supreme Court's Allison v. Housing authority of Seattle (1991) "stressed the desirability of conformity between the standards of causation for retaliatory discharge and for discrimination claims"? Allison v. Housing Authority of City of Seattle, 821 P.2d 34

(Wash. 1991). Is this Court of Appeals in conflict with this Supreme Court's *Allison* when it does not uniformly apply causation for retaliatory discharge under *Wilmot* v. *Kaiser Aluminum* to a WLAD disability discrimination claims as argued in Mr. Washington's brief? Id.

1. Is the Court of Appeals in err when it did not apply this Court's Allison and Wilmot related to conformity of Standards of Causation.

Allison v. Housing Authority established Wilmot v. Kaiser, should have been applied in this case when "proximity of time" is causation to establish improper motive and thus liability. Under Wilmot liability was established when a, "worker filed a workers' compensation claim, that the employer had knowledge of the claim, and that the employee was discharged." Wilmot, at 69. In this disability discrimination case there is proximity time of a few hours of Mr. Washington giving notice of heart issues (disability) and related work schedule needs. RP 394-395, Appeals opinion pg 7-8. Here, Mr. Washington told his supervisor he could not change his schedule due to heart related issues and was terminated a few hours later.

#### ISSUE 7:

When Mr. Washington satisfies prima facie case of disability discrimination (*Washington v. Boeing*) for being terminated hours after he gave notice of heart issues and 3 weeks after he earn perfect performance reviews. Under this Supremes Court's *Scrivener v. Clark College*, Does the court err when they do not apply *Scrivener* to the final Prong of Pretext for no temporal connection to termination as required under Scrivener?

## D. STATEMENT OF CASE

# 1. FACTUAL BACKGROUND DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION CASE

Issues are the Court of Appeals conclusions of law under WLAD for Disability Discrimination and Failure Accommodate a disability, are in conflict with Washington State Supreme Court

decisions and Appellate decisions as well. The Court of Appeals found Mr. Washington had "substantial evidence" of disability, which leaves the element of "notice of disability" to establish liability of Failure to Accommodate Disability. The Court of Appeals found Mr. Washington notified his Supervisor of heart issues on 8, 9 August 2012. RP 394-395, Appeals Opinion pg 7,8. However, the court did not believe Notice of Heart issues was "Notice of Disability" as a matter of law. Appeals opinion pg 7-8, 13-16.

Mr. Washington was terminated a few hours after he gave notice of heart issues and explained he needed an adjust work schedule for such. Appeals opinion Id, CP 415-417, 472-475, 487-492, RP 135-145, 367-375 Joint Statement of Evidence, Ex. 9, 11, 12. In addition to being terminated, Mr. Washington he experienced different terms and conditions. He was expected to have a "standard work schedule", whereas no else in Mr. Sims (GHC Supervisor) group had the requirement. CP 503-505, RP 374-376, Appellant's brief pg 39-43. The Court of Appeals believed different terms and conditions of employment in Disability Discrimination case, has nothing to do with disability discrimination. Id.

Ill-intentioned flagrant prejudicial misconduct by Defense Attorney was briefed by Appellant but bypassed and neglected by Court Appeals Div. 1. Appellant opening brief 17-26, 27, 44, Appendix; Appellant response 1-4, 19; Motion(s) for new evidence. The Court of Appeals did no review whatsoever. Mr. Washington motioned to admit new evidence. The Court of Appeals did no analysis or discussion to establish flagrant misconduct, this was neglected as well. The new evidence is the *Appendix section of Appellants brief*.

2. MR. WASHINGTON'S DISABILITY OF HEART ISSUES AND NEED FOR ACCOMMODATION OF A DISABILITY ADJUSTED WORK SCHEDULE.

More than 5 years before Mr. Washington worked at GHC, he was diagnosed with

medical conditions of Cardiomyopathy, Sarcoidosis, Hypogonadism and Sleep Apnea that go back to 2007. RP 452-53, 458, 699, 704, 715-717 CP 592, 595-601 JSE Ex. 121-123,127-28, Trial testimony of Dr. Mark Sullivan ("Dr. Sullivan"), part of University of Washington Medical Center's ("UWMC's") cardiology team, stated Mr. Washington is, "in the cardiology clinic because he has Sarcoidosis and Heart Failure.". RP 453, 458 JSE 80,121. And Mr. Washington's Pulmonologist, Dr. Raghu UWMC testified at trial as well. Dr. Raghu diagnosed Mr. Washington Sarcoidosis and his issues of chronic fatigue. RP 707, 710, 699, 714-16. Mr. Washington in late June 2012 was being effected by his medical conditions including his heart issues. RP 126-30, CP 652-53. Mr. Washington asked his GHC supervisor, John Sims ("Mr. Sims") for medical accommodation in the form of an adjusted work schedule to begin work earlier so he could do his job. This was the first time Mr. Washington needed or asked for Disability Accommodation RP 126-138,394-395. CP 472-473, JSE Ex. 20. Mr. Sims initially verbally granted Mr. Washington's request for a schedule change. The second time he gave notice of disability was 8,9 August 2012. The undisputed dates Mr. Washington gave notice of his disabilities is on 8 and 9 August 2012. RP 394-395. At trial Mr. Sims made it clear that Mr. Washington gave him Notice of Heart issues that he was seeing doctors for such. RP 394-395. And Mr. Washington also sent an email on 9 August 2012 with subject, "Medical Condition Notification". RP357-358, Joint Statement of Evidence (JSE) Ex. 9.

GHC Senior Manager Mr. Raustein, conceded at trial that GHC knew Mr.

Washington needed accommodations and that "some accommodations were

made to that, to accommodate Mr. Washington. And that there were issues with

that, and he was being asked to move back ".CP 309, RP 680-681, 394-395,

Appellant Opening Brief pg 16-17. What Mr. Raustein describes here directly

relates to 9 Aug 2012, the day Mr. Raustein gave his approval for Mr. Sims to terminated Mr. Washington. This was the same day Mr. Sim's told Mr. Washington to change his schedule because it was "Inconvenient" for his manager Mr. Burton. CP 479, Appellant brief pg 11.

Mr. Washington gave Mr. Sims notice of Heart condition on 8 and 9 August 2012.

RP 394-395, Appeals opinion pg 7-8. Several hours later on 9 August 2012, Mr. Sims went to Mr. Raustein to get his ok to termination. RP 328-329, CP 294-295 309-310, 472-475, 492, 518-519. When Mr. Washington needed the adjusted schedule, he discussed his heart issues and doctor appointments with Mr.Sims. RP 394-395, Appeals opinion pg 7-8. Again Mr. Raustein concedes that GHC knew Mr.

then Mr. Washington was terminated. ".CP 309, RP 680-681, 394-395Appellant Opening Brief pg 16-17. The Court of Appeals did not consider or discus Mr.

Raustein's concession which compounds the errors in the Opinion.

Washington needed accommodations but they had some "issues with that" and

3. COURT OF APPEALS FOUND EMPLOYER WAS NOTIFIED OF HEART ISSUES,
HOWEVER THE COURT DID NOT FIND THIS TO BE "NOTICE OF DISABILITY".

On 13 July 2012, Mr. Sims gave Mr. Washington all positive marks in his
Performance review. CP 541-543, RP 345-357. The appeals court confirmed that
"nothing negative" was in Mr. Washington's review. Appeals opinion pg. 11. ld Three
weeks later on 8, August 2012, Mr. Sims returned from a two week vacation. CP 478-479
Mr. Sims in his deposition stated he rescinded Mr. Washington's accommodated
schedule because it was "inconvenient" for Mr. Sim's manager Adam Burton ("Mr.
Burton"). CP 479.

The Court of Appeals found on August 8, 2012, Mr. Sims told Mr. Washington to change his "work schedule". Mr. Sims confirmed at trial there were no standard schedule for

anyone in his group. CP 503-505, RP 374-376, Appeals court opinion. This Standard schedule issue was one of the reasons Mr. Sims terminated Mr. Washington. The Court of Appeals found when GHC told Mr. Washington to change his schedule that Mr. Washington "explained to Mr. Sims{GHC} that he had numerous doctor appointments in the future and that he had heart issues.". Pg 7 Appeals Court opinion, RP 394-395.

The next day on 9 August 2012, the discussion resumed regarding Mr. Washington's schedule, in which Court of Appeals established that "he{Mr. Washington} did mention a heart related medical appointment." Id, Pg 8 Appeals Opinion. This was the Court of Appeals 2<sup>nd</sup> time they found Mr. Washington notified and discussed his Heart Issues with GHC. Id, RP 394-395 The Court of Appeals findings of fact continue that "Later that morning {9 August 2012}, Washington e-mailed Sims and Adam Burton, Sims'manager, notifying them of a medical condition and appointment. Id. This is the 3<sup>rd</sup> time Court Appeals found Mr. Washington Notified GHC of either heart issues or medical conditions. Id.

The Court of Appeals factual determination found Mr. Washington notified his Supervisor (Mr. Sims) on 8 and 9 August 2012 "that he {Mr. Washington} had heart issues". Pg 7-8 Appeals Court Opinion, RP 394-395. In spite of the Court of Appeals own finding that GHC had notice of Mr. Washington's "Heart issues". The Court did not believe Notice of Heart issues was "Notice of disability" as a matter of law under the WLAD. The Court of Appeals said this was a Jury question. Appeals opinion pg. 13-16. The Court of Appeals finding of Facts establishes a time of proximity of a few hours of Mr. Washington giving "Notice of Disability" and being terminated. Appeals opinion pg 7-8.

Below is an timeline of the Court of Appeals findings on 8 and 9 August 2012:

- a. Morning on 8 August 2012- The Appeals court found that Mr. Washington responded that it was "unfair" for Mr. Sims to change his schedule when as the court found he explained GHC Supervisor Mr. Sims, "that he had numerous doctor appointments in the future and that he had heart issues."pg 7 Appeals Opinion, CP 473-476, 479 RP 415-417
- b. Morning of 9 August 2012- Appeals court found that "Sims and Washington resumed their discussion the next morning.... he did mention a heart related medical appointment...Later that morning, Washington e-mailed Sims and Adam Burton, Sims 'manager, notifying them of a medical condition and appointment." RP 394-395, Pg 8 Appeals Opinion

**Proximity of Time-** Later on the same morning, of 9 August 2012, Appeals court states, "Just a few hours later the court finds Defense began Washington's termination with a Group Health human resources consultant. Id, RP 359-361 CP 487-492, 518-519

c. 10 August 2012- The Court of Appeals found "The next day, August 10, 2012" Mr. Washington was terminated "Id, Ex 10, RP 354-355, 365-366

# 2. ILL INTENTIONED FLAGRANT PREJUDICIAL MISCONDUCT

Mr. Washington's brief detailed the actions of Defense Attorney that established Flagrant Prejudicial Misconduct.

a. Mr. Washington is a United State Navy Veteran. Defense counsel asked and received dozens of pages of Mr. Washington's Veteran Administration (VA) records from the VA that have Defense attorney's name and address on the cover page. JSE Ex. 118-120, Appendix of Opening Brief, Motions for new evidence.

Defense attorney ignored these Veteran documents that verified Mr. Washington was a US Military Veteran. Id. Defense closing 4-7. Defense attorney at Mr. Washington cross exam maliciously attack a Veteran as not being a Veteran. RP 214-217, defense closing 4-7. Simply put, Defense attorney went to lengths to get the Jury to believe Mr.

Washington was lying about being a US Military Veteran. This is detail and supported in Appellants Motion for new evidence and Appellants' response Motion for new evidence, Appendix of brief. Defense closing 4-7, RP 214-217. Appellants Brief 3-4,17-18, 20-21,26-27, 43-46, Appellants Response Brief 4, 14-15, 19; Motion(s) for New evidence.

- b. Defense at closing dishonestly told the jury, there is something "fishy" about Mr.
  Washington's military service and continued with, "If Mr. Washington was a veteran you would think he would want to have that record to show to his daughters."
  Defense Closing Pg 6
- Mr. Washington. Defense communicated to the Jury that Mr. Washington likely engaged in Bankruptcy fraud during his uneventful bankruptcy. Closing 1-4, RP 220-224. At closing he told the Jury that Mr. Washington's Bankruptcy was "one of the darker deceptions that we heard in this case." Defense Closing pg 2. Defense told the Jury Mr. Washington who is African American is a "Big Mac Daddy". (Successful Pimp) RP 271, 544-545. Other actions at closing included character vouching, more than 15 creative ways of telling the Jury Mr. Washington is liar and defense attorney miss informed the Jury of respective burdens under the WLAD. See Defense closing.
- d. GHC set the derogatory tone in their opening statement. Defense attorney stated that Mr. Washington's "life is a pattern of arrogance and deception.....conduct reveals a plan here, to try and dupe you into awarding him money.....asking you, the jurors, to be his accomplices.". RP 36, 40.

In spite of these issues being briefed by Appellant, the Appeals court said there were no contemporaneous objections therefore they were not going to review it further.

Appellants Brief 27, 43-49, Appellants Response Brief 4, 14-15,19. This is baffling, since

the issue was that the misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction would not have cured the prejudice

## E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

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