FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/18/2017 1:01 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 94747-3

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 73847-0-1

VICTOR TERENCE WASHINGTON,

Petitioners,

٧.

GROUP HEALTH COOPERATIVE,

Respondent.

Answer to Petition for Discretionary Review

#### Submitted by:

Jeffrey A. James Jennifer A. Parda-Aldrich SEBRIS BUSTO JAMES 14205 S.E. 36<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 325 Bellevue, WA 98006 Tel: (425) 454-4233

Fax: (425) 454-4233

**Attorneys for Respondent** 

**ORIGINAL** 

filed via

###

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

Consulting Services Manager, spoke with Washington.<sup>14</sup> (RP 446- 448) Washington's co-workers also provided observations of Washington, which confirmed the bases upon which Sims had terminated Washington's employment.<sup>15</sup> (RP 734-735) Group Health concluded that Washington had not requested any reasonable accommodation.<sup>16</sup> (RP 748; Ex. 12).

#### B. Procedural History.

#### 1. Washington Sues Group Health.

On May 13, 2013, Washington sued Group Health alleging disability and failure to accommodate discrimination in violation of the WLAD. (CP 1-4) He also alleged that Group Health retaliated against him in violation of the WLAD but voluntarily dismissed the claim before trial. (RP 1)

### 2. Washington Refuses During Discovery to Produce Records of his Military Service, Awards and Discharge.

On July 19, 2013, almost two years before trial, Group Health asked Washington to produce his military service records. (Appendix to Appellant's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Butler found Washington to be "very argumentative, and challenging" and noted that she understood "why leadership had taken the action they had." (RP 667-668; Ex. 25)

<sup>15</sup> Jim Keeffe, Network Engineer, reported that Washington "seemed angry" and aloof during team meetings and agreed with Sims' termination decision. (RP 567-568, 571) Rob Sumpter, a member of Washington's IT team, reported noting that Washington "disengaged" when team members disagreed with him and similarly agreed with Sims' termination decision. (RP 388, 685-688). Hart—with whom Washington regularly conversed about his personal life—similarly reported noting that Washington did not engage with other members of the team and acted "standoffish" and, on at least one occasion, aggressively. (RP 539)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Gayles issued Washington a letter summarizing the outcome of the investigation and invited Washington to contact her if he believed there was any additional documentation or information Group Health should consider in support of his allegations. (RP 748; Ex. 12). Washington did not contact Gayles or dispute Group Health's findings. (RP 748)

Brief, at 24-25) Washington refused to produce any documents claiming he was "not in possession of records related to his military service." *Id.*, 24-25, 47-48. One month before trial, Group Health's counsel sent Washington's counsel a link to the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") website through which Washington could request a free replacement of his DD-214, a military document "that tells your dates of military service, any awards you received, your day of discharge, [and] your type of discharge." (Appendix to Appellant Brief, at 1; RP 215) Washington did not attempt to obtain a replacement DD-214 to produce in discovery. (RP 215)

### 3. The Trial Court Enters an Order in Limine on Washington's Prior Employment and Litigation History.

Prior to trial, Washington filed a motion in limine seeking to exclude evidence of his prior litigation, including the McLeod Letter and Washington's complaint against Starbucks. (CP 37-46) Group Health opposed Washington's motion, asserting that evidence of Washington's prior employment and litigation history was relevant to Washington's claims, to Group Health's defenses and to Washington's credibility. (CP 132-142) The court ruled that, though the McLeod Letter was inadmissible, Group Health could question Washington about his demand made to Tideworks through the McLeod Letter and about the Starbucks complaint for impeachment and to show Washington's knowledge. (RP 13-14)

At trial, Washington volunteered that he was terminated from Tideworks

because he had become "seriously ill" during his employment. (RP 53) In response, during cross examination Group Health asked whether Washington had claimed wrongful termination from Tideworks based on an alleged disability. (RP 223) After Washington responded that he did not recall, Group Health presented him with the McLeod Letter and asked whether he had claimed emotional distress, as he alleged in his Complaint against Group Health. (RP 223-224) Washington did not object to Group Health's inquiries. (RP 223-226)

4. During Trial Washington Provides Inconsistent Testimony Regarding his Military Service History.

At trial, Washington testified that he served in the Navy from 1984 until he was honorably discharged in 1991; yet in his resume he represented to Group Health that he served in the Navy from 1994 to 1998 and represented to Starbucks that his Navy service was from 1987 to 1991. (RP 208-209; Exs. 72, 165) Attempting to account for the discrepancies, Group Health asked Washington why he had not produced his DD-214 during discovery. (RP 215) After receiving evasive answers, Group Health asked: "I would think you would be proud of [your service] . . . is there a reason why you're holding this back?" (RP 216) Washington objected—which the Court sustained—but did not move to strike the inquiry from the record. (RP 217)

5. During Closing Arguments, Group Health Addresses Washington's Bankruptcy Filings, Military Record and Claimed Medical Diagnosis with No Objection from Washington.

In closing argument, Group Health argued that Washington had delayed his employment to the bankruptcy court that he was unemployed and had no prospect of income. (Supplemental Report of Proceedings ("Supplemental RP") 2-3) It also argued that at the time Washington presented such sworn testimony, he *had* a prospect of income given his anticipated Group Health employment, making his sworn testimony to the bankruptcy court dishonest. (Supplemental RP 3) Washington did not object to any of Group Health's assertions. *Id*.

Group Health also noted that Washington had not produced any documentary evidence of his Navy discharge; thus, there was no way to know whether "he was just being resistant in refusing . . . or if there's something fishy about his military experience." (Supplemental RP 5-6) It highlighted that it invited Washington's attorney to clarify confusion regarding Washington's military history during re-direct examination—which he did not do—and reminded the jury that Washington could have shown the jury his veteran's card, which he allegedly had on the stand, but chose not to do so. *Id.* Washington did not object to any of Group Health's arguments. (Supplemental RP 10-11)

### 6. The Jury Rule Rejects Washington's Claims, and The Trial Court Denies Washington's Motion for a New Trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Group Health did not claim that Washington had not served in the Navy; it merely pointed out a lack of documentary evidence to corroborate his testimony or explain why he gave inconsistent statements regarding his service. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The Court instructed the jury both before the trial and before closing arguments that lawyers' remarks and arguments are not evidence and should be disregarded if not supported by the evidence presented during trial. (CP 634-35)

The jury returned a unanimous verdict for Group Health finding that Washington did not meet his burden of proving his claims by a preponderance of the evidence. (CP 629, 703-704) Washington moved for a new trial claiming: (1) undue prejudiced by the admission of evidence of his bankruptcy and by questions to his psychiatrist; and (2) that the verdict was contrary to the evidence. (CP 653-661) The trial court denied Washington's motion. (CP 713)

#### 7. The Appellate Court Properly Upholds the Jury's Verdict.

Washington appealed the trial court's denial of his motion for new trial asserting that the court abused its discretion in finding the verdict substantially supported by the evidence and that Washington had not been prejudiced by the admission of evidence of his bankruptcy or by questions to his medical providers. On appeal, Washington argued for the first time that he had been unduly prejudiced by statements made by counsel for Group Health during closing argument related to his personal life, bankruptcy proceedings, and military service. The appellate court upheld the jury's verdict, holding that the verdict was substantially supported by the evidence and that Washington failed to preserve for review his challenges to allegedly prejudicial comments by Group Health. See May 30, 2017 Unpublished Opinion (the "Opinion"). 19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Because Washington does not appear to have submitted a copy of the Opinion with his Petition, Group Health provides a copy in Appendix A of its Answer.

#### III. ARGUMENT SUPPORTING DENIAL OF REVIEW

This Court may grant review under limited circumstances. *See* RAP 13.4(b). Washington appears to seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).<sup>20</sup> Washington's claims have no merit and review should be denied.

#### A. The Opinion is Not In Conflict with Any Decision by this Court.

Washington argues that the Opinion conflicts with a myriad of opinions of this Court. He is wrong.

1. The Opinion Holding that Washington Failed to Demonstrate Flagrant and Ill-Intentioned Misconduct is Not in Conflict with Any Decisions of this Court.

Washington argues that the appellate court failed to assess whether Group Health's counsel's alleged misconduct during trial<sup>21</sup> was "so flagrant so as not to require objection," which Washington claims is inconsistent with various opinions of this Court standing for the proposition that attorney misconduct requires a new trial "if there is a substantial likelihood that it affect [sic] the verdict." The appellate court, however, engaged in the very assessment Washington claims it failed to make. Specifically, in assessing the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See RAP 13.4(b)(1) (providing for review if the decision is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court) and RAP 13.4(b)(4) (providing for review if the petition involves an issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Washington claims that Group Health's counsel improperly questioned him about his former employment, bankruptcy and military service record and made prejudicial statements regarding the same opening statement and closing argument. *See* Petition, at 1-2, 10-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See Petition, at 12-14.

alleged misconduct, the appellate court recognized that a claim of misconduct cannot be raised for the first time in a motion for new trial "unless the misconduct is so flagrant that no instruction could have cured the prejudicial effect." See Opinion, at 17-18. The court then held that Washington "fail[ed] to demonstrate that any of the[] comments were flagrant and ill-intentioned, obviating the need for contemporaneous objection." See Opinion, at 17-18.

#### 2. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with Goodman or Rideout.

Washington argues that the Opinion conflicts with *Goodman v. Boeing*, 127 Wn.2d 401, 899 P.2d 1265 (1995)—to the extent that the appellate court allegedly failed to assess whether Washington presented substantial evidence to establish that Group Health had knowledge of his disability (*i.e.*, "heart issues")—and *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003)—to the extent that the appellate court failed to review Washington's "Medical Condition Notification" email "as a matter of law to determine if the email was 'Notice of a Disability." See Petition, at 15-17. Washington is wrong.

The appellate court properly found that Washington failed to present substantial evidence that he gave Group Health notice of his disability where there was "conflicting evidence at trial" and, thus, that there was substantial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Washington makes the same argument in this regard in what he identifies in his Petition as "ISSUE 2" and "ISSUE 3" and asserts that the jury was improperly instructed that he bore the burden to prove both the existence of a disability and notice of the same. *See* Petition, at 14-17

evidence to support the jury's verdict.<sup>26</sup> See Opinion, at 14-16. Such a finding is consistent with the standards articulated in *Goodman* requiring an employer to engage in an interactive dialogue with an employee "only after the employee has initiated the process by notice." *Goodman*, 127 Wn.2d at 408. It was not, as Washington claims, for the appellate court to find that Washington met his burden of providing notice "as a matter of law."

#### 3. The Opinion is Not In Conflict with Brundridge.

Washington asserts the appellate court erred "when it determined that [he] could not bring the issue of Wrongful Termination in Violation of Public Policy," which Washington claims is in conflict *Brundridge v. Flour Federal Services, Inc.*, 164 Wn.2d 432, 191 P.3d 879 (2008).<sup>23</sup> There is no question that Washington did not plead in his Complaint—nor did the jury hear evidence regarding—any claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. (CP 703-704) There exists no legal authority allowing a party to assert a claim for the first time on appeal. Thus, the Opinion does not conflict with *Brundridge*.

#### 4. The Opinion is Not in Conflict Allison and Wilmot.

Washington claims that the Opinion conflicts with Allison v. Housing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> As described above, evidence presented at trial reflected that Washington failed to disclose any such disability during his employment onboarding process. *See also* Opinion, at 14-15. Additionally, conflicting testimony was presented as to whether Washington informed Sims that he had a disability when requesting an adjusted work schedule. *See id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Washington claims *Brundridge* stands for the proposition that "a change in law during an Appeal can be brought up for the first time" on appeal and appears to assert that he should be permitted a new trial on a claim that was not presented to the jury. *See* Petition, at 18.

Authority, 118 Wn.2d 79, 821 P.2d 34 (1991) and Wilmot v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp., 118 Wn.2d 46, 821 P.2d 18 (1991) because the appellate court failed to apply the "proximity of time" causation standards established in those decisions to his discrimination claims. See Petition, at 4-5, 19. In Allison, this Court adopted the "substantial factor" causation standard for WLAD retaliation claims that was established in Wilmot for wrongful discharge claims. Washington dismissed his retaliation claim before trial. (RP 1; CP 703-704) Thus, the Opinion does not conflict with Allison or Wilmot.

#### 5. The Opinion is Not in Conflict with Scrivener.

Washington claims the Opinion conflicts with *Scrivener v. Clark College*, 181 Wn.2d 439, 334 P.3d 541 (2014) because the appellate court failed to apply the "final prong of pretext." <sup>25</sup> See Petition, at 20. "Washington courts use the burden-shifting analysis articulated in *McDonnell Douglas*... to determine the proper order and nature of proof *for* summary judgment." *Scrivener*, 181 Wn.2d at 445. Where a trial court determines that a question of fact remains, "the 'shifting burdens'... drop from the case [and the] plaintiff [is] required to bear the ultimate burden of proving discrimination to the jury." Thus, the Opinion is not in conflict with *Scrivener*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See Allison, 118 Wn.2d at 96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 446-447 (third prong under burden shifting analysis established by McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973) requires a plaintiff to produce sufficient evidence that defendant's articulated nondiscriminatory decision is pretext).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Kastanis v. Educ. Employees Credit Union, 122 Wn.2d 483, 491-492, 856 P.2d 96 (1993).

B. No Substantial Public Interest Requires This Court to Accept Review of the Opinion Affirming the Jury Verdict.

Washington appears to seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) by repeatedly asserting that the WLAD generally serves an important public interest.<sup>27</sup> It is not contested that the WLAD serves a substantial public interest and, thus, no determination by this Court is required. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4) (providing for review where opinion "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court").

C. This Court Should Award Fees and Costs Per RAP 18.1(j).

Washington submits the same frivolous arguments he raised before the Court of Appeals, but now in a *pro se* capacity, requiring Group Health to spend significant time attempting to make sense of his arguments. Group Health respectfully requests an award of fees and costs per RAP 18.1(j).

IV. CONCLUSION

No basis exists for this Court to accept review of the appellate court's Opinion. Accordingly, review should be denied.